**RECEIVED**

**Aug 03 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2017-CP-42-00740

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001642

---

Gibbs International, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Sarmad Harake, Eurosa, Inc., and Katherine Harake, Defendants, of whom Sarmad Harake and Eurosa Inc. are the Appellants.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS SARMAD HARAKE AND EUROSA, INC.**

---

John T. Lay, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 64526)  
Curtis L. Ott (S.C. Bar No. 66145)  
Lindsay A. Joyner (S.C. Bar No. 77437)  
**GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Circuit Court Erred In Dismissing Appellants' Fourth Counterclaim Pursuant To Rules 12(b)(6) And 12(f), SCRCP, As The Counterclaim Contained Allegations That State A Valid Claim For Relief.
- II. The Circuit Court Erred In Dismissing Appellants' Fourth Counterclaim Without Permitting Them An Opportunity To Amend.
- III. The Circuit Court Erred in Dismissing Appellants' Fourth Counterclaim Based On An Instruction Not To Answer Questions In Appellant Harake's Deposition, As Such Information Is Not Part Of The Analysis Under Rules 12(b)(6) and 12(f), SCRCP.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter involves complex allegations and both corporate and individual parties, but at its core, it is a business dispute arising from an alleged breach of contract and request for accounting of an alleged investment agreement first discussed in 2015. Respondent Gibbs International, Inc. (“Respondent” or “Gibbs”) essentially alleges that Appellants Sarmad Harake (“Harake”) and Eurosa, Inc. (“Eurosa”)(collectively, “Appellants”) undertook certain responsibilities relative to multiple investments and were the sole cause of any investment failures, giving rise to an obligation to return all monies paid to Eurosa as well as liability for damages tied to, among other things, the investments made by Respondent – even including investments made prior to and after Respondent’s business dealings with Appellants. Appellants deny Respondent’s allegations that they were solely responsible for any investment failure and deny they owe Respondent any damages. Rather, Appellants allege Respondent did not fulfill its promises, and those failures caused Appellants’ damage.

Respondent initially brought this lawsuit on March 7, 2017, but it was amended twice within the first few months, with the Second Amended Complaint filed on June 9, 2017. An entry of default was entered against, among other parties, Harake, Eurosa, and their co-defendant Katherine Harake on July 17, 2017; however, Harake, Eurosa, and Katherine Harake timely answered the Second Amended Complaint on August 17, 2017, and the entry of default was set aside by Order of the Circuit Court on December 21, 2017.

The Second Amended Complaint, which spanned some thirty pages, alleged causes of action for: (1) breach of a contract between Harake and Eurosa on one hand and Gibbs on the other; (2) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (3) breach of fiduciary duties; (4) an accounting; (5) invasion of privacy; (6) a derivative action against

IOtive and its Board Members and Shai Hemli; (7) an action for *quantum meruit* against Katherine Harake; (8) conversion; and (9) unfair and deceptive trade practices. (Am. R. pp. 086-114, 2d Am. Complaint, ¶¶ 11-110). When Appellants timely answered the Second Amended Complaint, they also alleged counterclaims for breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation, and unjust enrichment. (Am. R. pp. 134-143, Answer and Counterclaims, ¶¶ 124-176). Katherine Harake was voluntarily dismissed from this litigation on June 1, 2018.<sup>1</sup> Collectively since January 2018, the parties have produced tens of thousands of pages of documents in this litigation and taken more than 10 depositions.

Gibbs filed its Third Amended Complaint on August 3, 2020, but did not renew the derivative cause of action in its previous Complaints or the breach of fiduciary duty cause of action as to certain prior defendants, leaving only Harake, Eurosa, and Katherine Harake as defendants in this litigation. (Am. R. p. 285, 3d Am. Complaint, p.1). The Third Amended Complaint contains causes of action for: (1) breach of contract and declaratory judgment, (2) breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, (3) breach of fiduciary duty, (4) accounting, (5) invasion of privacy/wrongful intrusion, (6) conversion, (7) unfair and deceptive trade practices, (8) fraud, (9) civil conspiracy, (10) unjust enrichment/quasi contract/implied contract/quantum meruit, and (11) piercing the corporate veil. (Am. R. pp. 286-312, 3d Am. Complaint, ¶¶ 6-119). On August 24, 2020, Appellants filed a partial motion to dismiss the Third Amended Complaint as well as their Answer to Plaintiff's Third Amended Complaint and Amended Counterclaims ("Answer and Amended Counterclaims"). In their Answer and Amended Counterclaims, Appellants asserted four

---

<sup>1</sup> Katherine Harake was brought back into this litigation as part of Gibbs' Third Amended Complaint in 2020 pursuant to different claims than were originally brought against her; although some of those claims were dismissed, she is not a party to this appeal.

counterclaims, including (1) breach of contract, (2) negligent misrepresentation, (3) unjust enrichment, and (4) tortious interference with economic interest (the “fourth counterclaim”). (Am. R. pp. 333-348, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 124-206).

Gibbs filed a “Motion to Dismiss and Strike Counterclaims of Sarmad Harake and Eurosa, Inc.” (“Gibbs’ Motion”) on August 28, 2020, asserting Appellants failed to state facts sufficient to show a claim of negligent misrepresentation and that Appellants’ fourth counterclaim for tortious interference with economic advantage is not a claim recognized by South Carolina law. (Am. R. p. 351, Gibbs’ Motion, p. 2; *see also* Am. R. pp. 445-446, Gibbs Memo. in Supp., pp. 3-4). Gibbs’ Motion further sought to strike “the intentional interference with prospective contractual relations claim” that Harake discussed during his deposition. Following several extension requests, Gibbs filed its Reply to Harake Defendants’ Amended Counterclaims on September 18, 2020, denying some allegations and admitting some allegations in the Answer and Amended Counterclaims. (Am. R. pp. 354-363, Reply, ¶¶ 5-86).

Both sides filed memoranda in support or opposition of their respective positions as to Gibbs’ Motion. As the filing of Gibbs’ supporting memorandum was very close in time to the hearing (approximately 90 minutes before the hearing), Appellants had already filed their opposition memorandum by the time they received Gibbs’ supporting memorandum. Gibbs’ supporting memorandum contained a new ground for relief that was not stated in Gibbs’ Motion: It requested Appellants’ fourth counterclaim for tortious interference with economic interest be struck pursuant to Rule 37, SCRPC, but it did so without having conferred with counsel pursuant to Rule 11, SCRPC, or certifying that such conference would serve no useful purpose. (Am. R. pp. 446-448, Gibbs Memo.

in Supp., pp. 4-6). Further, Gibbs' supporting memorandum did not identify an order that it believed Appellants had violated to justify Gibbs' request to strike a cause of action as a sanction, (Am. R. pp. 446-448, Gibbs Memo. in Supp., pp. 4-6), which is a requirement of Rule 37 – the rule Gibbs invoked.

Due to COVID-19 conditions, a hearing on Gibbs' Motion, as well as other motions in this matter, was held via WebEx on September 22, 2020. On September 25, 2020, the Circuit Court entered a Form 4 Order ("September 25 Order"), ruling in part, that Gibbs' Motion should be denied as to Appellants' counterclaim of negligent misrepresentation and should be granted as to Appellants' counterclaim of tortious interference with economic advantage. The September 25 Order directed the respective parties to draft proposed orders "using language consistent with" their respective arguments by November 1, 2020. (Am. R. p. 016, September 25 Order, p. 2).

Following receipt of the September 25 Order, Appellants timely filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure on October 5, 2020 ("Motion to Alter or Amend"). Following the proposed order submissions of the parties, the Circuit Court instructed counsel on November 17, 2020 that because Appellants' counsel had already filed a motion pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCF, "a new one is not necessary." (Am. R. p. 021, November 17, 2020 Email).

The Circuit Court entered its final Order on November 18, 2020 ("November 18 Order"). The November 18 Order contained the Circuit Court's rulings on multiple motions. In this appeal, however, Appellants only seek review of the portion of the November 18 Order that ruled on Appellants' fourth counterclaim. (Am. R. pp. 024-27, 34-37, 51, November 18 Order, pp. 1-4, 11-14, 28). Thereafter, the Circuit Court denied

Appellants’ Motion to Alter or Amend on November 30, 2020 (“November 30 Order”) without additional briefing or argument. (Am. R. p. 053, November 30 Order, p. 1). Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal as to the Circuit Court’s Orders on December 17, 2020.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Order on appeal concerns the Circuit Court’s ruling on Gibbs’ Motion to Dismiss or to Strike that dismissed Appellants’ fourth counterclaim. Pursuant to the applicable standard for a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, motion, the facts alleged by Appellants in its Answer and Amended Counterclaims – including those alleged with respect to the fourth counterclaim – must be viewed as true, both by the Circuit Court in the first instance and on review by this Court. *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247–48 (2007).

#### Appellants’ Answer and Amended Counterclaims

Appellants alleged more than thirty (30) paragraphs of background information in addition to claim-specific allegations supporting the four counterclaims they pled. (Am. R. pp. 334-342, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 128-160).<sup>2</sup> As this appeal relates only to Appellants’ fourth counterclaim of tortious interference with economic interest, the facts discussed herein are those alleged in relation to that cause of action.

Appellants alleged that around June 1, 2015, Appellants, through Eurosa, began

---

<sup>2</sup> Additionally, each of the counterclaims included an incorporation paragraph, restating Appellants’ previous allegations. (Am. R. pp. 342-346, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 161, 168, 182, and 191). The remaining paragraphs make up each of the four counterclaims, specifically (1) breach of contract (Am. R. pp. 342-343, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 161-167), (2) negligent misrepresentation (Am. R. pp. 343-345, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 168-181), (3) unjust enrichment (Am. R. pp. 345-346, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 182-190), and (4) tortious interference with economic interest (Am. R. pp. 346-348, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 191-204).

doing business with Respondent after a handshake with Respondent's President and CEO, Jimmy I. Gibbs, and as part of this agreement, they agreed to create a limited liability company, Gibbs Investment Holdings ("GIH"), as a vehicle to work together on certain investment projects and under certain revenue sharing terms. (Am. R. p. 334, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 128-131). However, an operating agreement for GIH was never executed by Gibbs. (Am. R. p. 335, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶ 134).

As of June 2016, the parties further agreed that Harake would receive a monthly draw of approximately Thirty-Three Thousand and No/100 Dollars (\$33,000) from GIH, which would count as part of Respondent's investment in GIH. (Am. R. pp. 334-335, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶ 133). As of August 5, 2016, Harake, on behalf of Eurosa, and Jimmy I. Gibbs, on behalf of Respondent, signed a Memorandum of Agreement ("MOA") providing their agreement would be reevaluated on or before February 5, 2017. (Am. R. p. 339, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶ 143). The MOA provided that GIH would be owned in equal shares by the two sides, would not own any assets, would be managed by Harake, and would consist of unanimously chosen investment projects. (Am. R. p. 339, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶ 144). The MOA also provided that project and investment ownership would be divided equally and that Respondent would provide Three Million Two Hundred Thousand And No/100 Dollars (\$3,200,000.00) in "cash to fully fund agreed investment projects." (Am. R. p. 339, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 145-146).

Additionally, in July 2016, Respondent agreed to certain obligations related to Paysend Processing, Inc. ("Paysend Processing"), which included providing \$1 million in

investment money as long as it received money back during the second capital raise. (Am. R. p. 340, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶ 149). Pursuant to an agreement between Eurosa, Respondent, and a third party, Eurosa owned a 13% interest in Paysend Processing based on a valuation of \$27 million. (Am. R. p. 340, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶ 150). As of September 2016, Jimmy I. Gibbs on behalf of Respondent insisted that the \$33,000 draw promised to Harake from GIH should instead be drawn from Paysend Processing; however, Respondent refused to make any investment over \$250,000 and refused to be bought out by the other investor. (Am. R. pp. 340-341, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 151-152, 155).

At the time, Harake had acquired a company in the United Kingdom which changed its name to Paysend PLC (“Paysend UK”), and Respondent refused to allow the investment in Paysend Processing to be transferred to Paysend UK. (Am. R. pp. 340-341, 347, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 153, 155, 197-198). Respondent knew Harake had acquired 100% ownership interest of Paysend UK and that Paysend UK was going to continue to raise capital. (Am. R. p. 347, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 195-196). Yet, Respondent unjustifiably refused to be bought out or to roll Paysend Processing into Paysend UK. (Am. R. p. 348, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶ 202). As a result of Respondents’ unjustified refusal: (1) Appellants were forced to purchase the other investor’s shares in Paysend Processing; (2) Appellants were forced to pay for expenses incurred by that investor; and (3) Harake was first diluted and then forced to sell his shares in Paysend UK, causing him damages related thereto. (Am. R. pp. 341-342, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 155-160).

Gibbs’ Motion to Dismiss

Gibbs’ Motion argued that Appellants’ fourth counterclaim for “tortious interference with economic advantage” should be dismissed pursuant to Rules 12(b)(6) and 12(f), SCRCF, because the “claim does not exist under South Carolina law” and past attempts to bring tortious interference claims resulted in treatment of the claim as one for intentional interference with contractual relations. (Am. R. pp. 350-351, Gibbs’ Motion, pp. 1-2). Gibbs’ Motion further argued that the claim should be struck because Harake was aware of the potential claim when he began to testify about it during his deposition (and was instructed not to answer) but only added it after Gibbs filed its Third Amended Complaint. (Am. R. p. 352, Gibbs’ Motion, p. 3). In Gibbs’ supporting memorandum – filed 90 minutes before the hearing –Gibbs raised an entirely new ground for relief that was not stated in its Motion, *to wit*: Gibbs claimed the fourth counterclaim for tortious interference with economic interest also should be struck pursuant to Rule 37, SCRCF. (Am. R. p. 443, Gibbs Memo. in Supp., p. 4). This new, surprise ground for dismissal violated Rule 11, SCRCF, as Gibbs never conferred with counsel or certified that such conference would serve no useful purpose, as that rule requires. Gibbs argued that striking the fourth counterclaim was appropriate because discovery had been withheld, but Gibbs identified no order it believed Appellants had violated that warranted sanctions pursuant to Rule 37. (Am. R. pp. 446-448, Gibbs Memo. in Supp., pp. 4-6).

#### Deposition Testimony of Harake

The reopened deposition of Harake (to which Gibbs referred in its supporting memorandum) took place on July 25, 2019, over a year prior to the filing of the Third Amended Complaint by Gibbs which added more causes of action against Harake. (Am. R. p. 462, Harake Depo. Tr., Vol. 2, p. 1). Harake was permitted to testify as to Paysend

Processing and Paysend UK, including that Harake received a \$1.5 million loan from a fund in Switzerland to use as capital to create Paysend UK, that as of July 2019 Paysend UK was worth around \$173 million, that Jimmy I. Gibbs refused to be a part of Paysend UK and refused to be bought out of Paysend Processing, and that Harake was forced to divest from Paysend UK. (Am. R. p. 473, line 9- p.478, line 17, Harake Depo. Tr., Vol. 2, pp. 286:9-291:17). That testimony is consistent with the allegations pled in Appellants' fourth counterclaim. However, when Harake began to testify about work product-protected information regarding the "next phase" and "damage" caused to him – and Gibbs' counsel asked questions about that, Harake was instructed by his counsel not to answer as further testimony would have revealed attorney-client and work product protected information. (Am. R. p. 478, line 17-p. 480, line 23, Harake Depo. Tr., Vol. 2, pp. 291:18-293:23).

Following the multiple depositions that were taken during the same week as Harake's reopened deposition, counsel agreed off the record that should a motion for protective order need to be filed related to the instructions not to answer or refusal to answer given in either of the depositions of Jimmy I. Gibbs or Harake, opposing counsel was to let the counsel who gave the instruction know. (Am. R. p. 398, Memo. in Opp. to Gibbs' Motion, p. 9). At no time was such a request made to Appellants' counsel. (Am. R. p. 398, Memo. in Opp. to Gibbs' Motion, p. 9). Respondent's counsel argued during the hearing on the matter that such a request should have been clear when Respondent filed its motion to dismiss. (Am. R. p. 492, lines 1-11, Hrg. Tr., p. 12:1-11). However, Respondent's counsel noted that "what [he] really care[d] about" was whether Appellants would "agree to let [him] depose [Appellant Harake] about" the fourth counterclaim.

(Am. R. p. 492, lines 12-15, Hrg. Tr., p. 12:12-15). During the hearing, Appellants' counsel agreed that should the counterclaim proceed, Respondent's counsel would not be precluded from reopening Harake's deposition for the limited purpose of inquiring about it. (Am. R. p. 502, lines 5-12, Hrg. Tr., p. 22:5-12). The Circuit Court thereafter noted any limits of the deposition testimony were not before it. (Am. R. p. 502, lines 13-24, Hrg. Tr., p. 22:13-24).

#### The Circuit Court's Orders

In the September 22, 2020 hearing on Gibbs' Motion, Appellants argued that just because the title of a particular cause of action has not been recognized formally in South Carolina, the claim does not automatically require dismissal. (Am. R. p. 500, lines 1-8, Hrg. Tr., p. 20:1-8). Additionally, Appellants argued that even if their tortious interference with economic interest claim was unable to stand, it still pled a valid cause of action, such as tortious interference with contractual relations. (Am. R. p. 501, line 2 - p. 502, line 4, Hrg. Tr., pp. 21:2-22:4). However, Respondent responded that Appellants were trying to allege intentional interference when only pleading tortious interference. (Am. R. p. 503, lines 11-25, Hrg. Tr., pp. 23:11-25).

The September 25 Order, among other things, granted Gibbs' Motion as to the fourth counterclaim, which the Circuit Court referred to as "tortious interference with economic advantage" as opposed to "tortious interference with economic interest" as it was pled. (Am. R. p. 015, September 25 Order, p. 1). Thereafter, it directed Respondents' counsel to "prepare a proposed Order incorporating the findings on his client's behalf using language consistent with his arguments." (Am. R. p. 016, September 25 Order, p. 2).

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