**RECEIVED**

**May 20 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2017-CP-42-00740

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-001642

---

Gibbs International, Inc., Respondent,

v.

Sarmad Harake, Eurosa, Inc., and Katherine Harake, Defendants of whom Sarmad Harake and Eurosa, Inc. are the Appellants.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT GIBBS INTERNATIONAL, INC.**

---

Kevin A. Dunlap (S. C. Bar No. 13081)  
**PARKER POE ADAMS & BERNSTEIN LLP**  
110 East Court Street, Suite 200  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE CIRCUIT COURT’S DISMISSAL OF THE FOURTH COUNTERCLAIM FOR RELIEF WAS PROPER AND THE CASELAW CITED BY THE HARAKE DEFENDANTS DOES NOT SUPPORT THE CONCLUSION THAT THE WORDS THE HARAKE DEFENDANTS THEMSELVES CHOSE TO USE IN ASSERTING THE CLAIM ARE TO BE IGNORED.**

#### **A. The Harake Defendants asserted a claim that they admit has not been recognized under South Carolina law.**

While the admission is conveniently buried in a footnote on page 20 of their 25-page brief, the Harake Defendants do flatly admit, as they also admitted in their brief in the Circuit Court, that the fourth counterclaim at issue in this appeal they referred to as “tortious interference with economic interest” has not been recognized in South Carolina. More particularly, the Harake Defendants say in footnote number 4: “Even though tortious interference with economic interest has not been formally recognized in South Carolina ....” (Harake Def. Br. at 20). The Circuit Court correctly found, among other things, that “the fourth counterclaim for relief is dismissed because the claim that Counterclaim Plaintiff chose to assert is not recognized in South Carolina.”

(November 30 Order at 12). The Circuit Court also correctly noted that the claim does not even allege “intentional interference” in the claim itself or elsewhere in the counterclaims. *Id.*

**B. The South Carolina caselaw cited by the Harake Defendants to try to rescue the claim is entirely different than the case at bar.**

The first case cited by the Harake Defendants, *Prior v. S.C. Med. Malpractice Liabl. Ins. Joint Underwriting Ass’n*, 305 S.C. 247, 249, 407 S.E.2d 655, 657 (Ct. App. 1991), has absolutely nothing to do with this case. *Prior* involved a situation in which an insured deliberately labeled a sexual assault as a negligent act to try to manufacture insurance coverage when the policy excluded coverage for intentional torts like sexual assault. The court explained that the nature of the underlying acts had to be examined to determine if coverage exists in a situation like this where the insured is manipulating the label of the claim to try to manufacture coverage when none exists. Those facts plainly are not present here.

Likewise, *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 743 S.E.2d 778 (2013), has nothing to do with the case at hand. In *Shirley's Iron Works*, the plaintiff did not use the label of contract, tort, or negligence, but the complaint did allege that the plaintiff was a third-party beneficiary of a contract. In stark contrast, the Harake Defendants in the case at bar did, in fact, identify the claim as one for “tortious interference with economic interest.” *Shirley's Iron Works* does not rule that labels and the words used in the pleading are to be ignored. In fact, the Court did the opposite and explained that the first cause of action was entitled “Violation of S.C. Code Ann. Section 29-6-250.” The Court concluded that the only claim that could be asserted under that statute was a contract claim so the Court concluded that title was adequate to state a contract claim. Finally, the Harake Defendants employed the title deliberately chosen by them for the tactical advantage to try to dodge the *mens rea* requirement. The Harake Defendants did not use the word “intentional” anywhere in the title or anywhere in the pleading to try to avoid having to prove intentional conduct.

The Harake Defendants cite *Crandall Corp. v. Navistar Int'l Transp. Corp.*, 302 S.C. 265, 395 S.E.2d 179 (1990), to say that “labels” do not matter because “intentional interference with prospective economic advantage” had been labeled as “intentional interference with contractual relations.” (Harake Def. Br. at 16). That simply is not true. The court did not hold that labels and the words in a pleading should be ignored or that “intentional interference with prospective economic advantage” was the same as “intentional interference with contractual relations.” (Harake Def. Br. at 16). The court explained that the action brought was for “intentional interference with prospective contractual relations” and the claim the court addressed was for “intentional interference with prospective contractual relations.” *Crandall*, 302 S.C. 268, 395 S.E.2d 181. The court did not find that a claim pled as one was construed to be another claim. In addition, both of these claims require “intentional” conduct. That is **not** what the Harake Defendants pled in the case at bar at all. As noted above, and in the case at bar, the Harake Defendants’ claim was for “tortious interference with economic interest” and the Harake Defendants did not use the word “intentional” a single time in the claim or elsewhere in the 36-page pleading. The Harake Defendants deliberately did not call the claim “intentional” interference or even use the words “intentional interference” a single time in their claim because they wanted to lower the imposing hurdle for recovery.

*United Educational Distributors, LLC v. Educational Testing Svc.*, 350 S.C. 7, 564 S.E.2d 324, 326 at n.1 (Ct. App. 2002), was also cited by the Harake Defendants on this issue. First, *United Educational Distributors* granted a motion to dismiss a claim for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage. The Harake Defendants did not assert this claim, but it is important to note that claim was thrown out. Second, when the court considered the claim of intentional interference with prospective economic advantage as intentional interference with prospective contractual relations, it did so because “the parties use the term interchangeably” and

the dismissal was appropriate either way. *United*, 350 S.C. at 7,10, 564 S.E.2d 324, 326 at n.1. Again, the Harake Defendants did not use the words “intentional interference” in the subject claim for relief at all or in the remainder of the counterclaims. Not once.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals in *United Educational Distributors* made it clear that the two claims were for: (1) intentional interference with present contractual relations and (2) intentional interference with prospective contractual relations. In *United Educational Distributors*, the claimant did not try to dodge the *mens rea* requirement. The Harake Defendants have cited the Court of Appeals for the observation that the label “did not affect the substance of [the court’s] analysis”; but this was as between two claims pled as intentional torts. *Id.* at 10, 326, n.1. In stark contrast, the Harake Defendants deliberately tried to lower the legal standard.

*Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God*, 341 S.C. 320, 327, 534 S.E.2d 672, 675 (2000), is also different because it involved a former enrollee of a Church-operated day care who sued the Church for mental and emotional injuries sustained as a result of being abused while attending the facility. The issue in that decision had to do with whether a cause of action is allowed when the medical diagnosis for the victim is labeled “repressed memory syndrome” instead of “dissociative amnesia.” That has nothing to do with the case before this Court.

In the end, as the Harake Defendants concede, they have not cited a single South Carolina case stating that South Carolina recognizes the cause of action that the Harake Defendants asserted in their fourth counterclaim for relief, “tortious interference with economic interest.” As a result, the Circuit Court’s dismissal of that claim should be upheld.

In section III(D) of this brief, Gibbs points out why any amendment is futile. Gibbs also notes that in addition to the point that any amendment is futile, Section III(D) of this brief also identifies other reasons that the Circuit Court’s original dismissal/striking of the claim was

appropriate and should be affirmed. Those reasons are not stated here merely to avoid duplication but are incorporated by reference.

**C. The cases cited by the Harake Defendants from other states do not support the conclusion that economic relations torts or their titles are interchangeable.**

The Harake Defendants represent that “[o]ther states have recognized [tortious interference with contractual relations] under multiple names” (Harake Def. Br. at 19), and then cite cases from other jurisdictions. However, none of the cases cited by the Harake Defendants support the conclusion that economic relation torts are interchangeable or that other jurisdictions have adopted multiple names for the same tort within their jurisdiction. In fact, several cases explicitly find the opposite. Further, none of the cases support the conclusion that “tortious interference with economic interest” is a viable tort claim.

In *Ixchel Pharma, LLC v. Biogen, Inc.*, 9 Cal. 5th 1130, 1141–42, 470 P.3d 571, 575–76 (2020), the California Supreme Court discussed two torts: “interference with the performance of a contract” and “interference with a prospective economic relationship.” The court was explicit that the two torts are “distinct.” *Id. Gieseke ex rel. Diversified Water Diversion, Inc. v. IDCA, Inc.*, 844 N.W.2d 210, 218 (Minn. 2014), similarly recognizes that economic relations torts are not interchangeable: “It is important to recognize that a claim for wrongful interference with a contract and a claim for tortious interference with a prospective economic advantage protect different interests” (citation omitted). In *Dunlap v. Cottman Transmission Sys., LLC*, 287 Va. 207, 216, 754 S.E.2d 313, 318 (2014), the court noted the difference between a claim for intentional interference with contractual relations and intentional interference with a business expectancy by saying that when the claim involves a “business expectancy, a plaintiff, in order to present a prima facie case of tortious interference, must allege and prove not only an intentional interference, but also that the defendant employed improper methods.” (Internal quotations and citations omitted.)

Most of the cases the Harake Defendants cited only address one tort by one name, which does not support the Harake Defendants' contention that the tort is recognized by a wide range of terms within respective jurisdictions. *Am. Diamond Exch., Inc. v. Alpert*, 101 Conn. App. 83, 90, 920 A.2d 357, 363 (2007), addresses "tortious interference with business expectancies." The Harake Defendants argued that this claim "encompasses a broad range of behavior." (Harake Def. Br. at 19). However, that excerpt was misleadingly placed and it does not support the notion that the label and words used to describe the claim are to be ignored.

*Schuler v. Abbott Labs.*, 265 Ill. App. 3d 991, 994, 639 N.E.2d 144, 147 (1993), addresses "interference with prospective economic advantage" and noted that the claimant failed to plead and prove malice. The appellate court upheld the 12(b)(6) dismissal. *Ethan Allen, Inc. v. Georgetown Manor, Inc.*, 647 So. 2d 812, 814–15 (Fla. 1994), addresses "tortious interference with a business relationship" and noted that "mere hope" of certain future activity was an inadequate legal basis for the claim. *Wilkerson v. Carlo*, 101 Mich. App. 629, 632, 300 N.W.2d 658, 659 (1980), addresses "tortious interference with economic relations" and concluded there was no basis for the claim; and *Amaranth LLC v. J.P. Morgan Chase & Co.*, 71 A.D.3d 40, 48, 888 N.Y.S.2d 489 (2009), addresses "tortious interference with business relations" and noted the claimant must prove the defendant acted solely out of malice or used improper or illegal means that amounted to a crime or an independent tort. Thus, none of these cases suggest that these jurisdictions recognize the same tort by different names, as wrongfully asserted by the Harake Defendants. (Harake Def. Br. at 19). Further, in each of these jurisdictions, an improper motive or an independently unlawful act with aggravating circumstances is required. See *Dowd & Dowd, Ltd. v. Gleason*, 352 Ill. App. 3d 365, 381, 816 N.E.2d 754, 768 (2004); *Howard v. Murray*, 184 So. 3d 1155, 1166 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2015); *CMI Int'l, Inc v. Internet Int'l Corp*, 251 Mich.App 125, 131; 649 NW2d 808 (2002); *Amaranth*, 71 A.D.3d at 48, 888 N.Y.S.2d 489 (2009).

Further, none of the cases cited by the Harake Defendants include a single court addressing this tort by multiple names within the same jurisdiction. In *Trade 'N Post, L.L.C. v. World Duty Free Americas, Inc.*, 628 N.W.2d 707, 717, 720 (N.D. 2001), the North Dakota Supreme Court noted that “[t]here is great disparity in the language used by courts to describe the various elements of the tort” of “unlawful interference with business,” and then cites to *other* jurisdictions’ characterizations of their economic relations tort. The court goes into great detail to explain the very limited nature and indicated: “[A] plaintiff could not recover against a defendant whose persuasion of others not to deal with Plaintiff was lawful. Conduct that is merely ‘sharp’ or unfair is not actionable and cannot be the basis of an action for tortious interference with prospective contractual relations, and we disapprove of cases that suggest the contrary.” *Id.* at 720.

While some other jurisdictions may use different terms to classify certain economic relations torts, the Harake Defendants are not pleading their case in other jurisdictions. More importantly, the Harake Defendants have provided no caselaw to suggest that any jurisdiction treats economic torts interchangeably. **Specifically, not a single case cited expressly identified a claim for “tortious interference with economic interest” that the court redrafts and renames as a claim for “intentional interference with prospective contractual relations” or renames as “intentional interference with contract” while being called “tortious interference with contractual relations,” which is what the Harake Defendants have asked this Court to do.** Again, at the end of the day, the Harake Defendants have not cited a single South Carolina case finding that the claim they asserted for “tortious interference with economic interest” exists in South Carolina and admit this, though conveniently burying it in a footnote in their brief. (Harake Def. Br. at 20). This is nothing more than the Harake Defendants doing in their brief what the Harake Defendants did in the underlying facts of this case – creating a cyclone of confusion and hope everyone just throws up their hands and allows them to have their way. Gibbs refuses to

do so. The bottom line is they have not cited a case in South Carolina recognizing a claim for “tortious interference with economic interest.” It is not recognized. The dismissal of the fourth counterclaim should be affirmed. Case closed.

**D. The “incorporates by reference” paragraph does not save the claim from dismissal.**

It is also important to note that in a desperate attempt to try to save the claim, the Harake Defendants point out that the meager, bare-bones pleading asserting the claim at issue also incorporates by reference other allegations in the complaint. (Harake Def. Br. at 6). The fatal defect in this analysis is that even a cursory review of the other allegations concerning Paysend UK establishes that the other allegations do nothing to further advance the claim at issue for these reasons:

- The only new allegations in the other allegations of the counterclaim relating to Paysend UK that were not mentioned in the fourth counterclaim for relief were:
  - “Counterclaim Defendant Gibbs agreed to the \$1 million investment as long as on the second capital raise, it would receive money back.” (Answer and Am. Countercl., ¶149)
  - “Pursuant to the agreement between Counterclaim Plaintiff Eurosa, Counterclaim Defendant Gibbs, and the other investor, Counterclaim Plaintiff Eurosa owned a 13% interest in Paysend Processing based on a \$29 million valuation.” (Answer and Am. Countercl., ¶150)
  - “As of September 2016, Jimmy Gibbs on behalf of Counterclaim Defendant Gibbs insisted that the \$33,000 draw promised to Counterclaim Plaintiff Sarmad Harake from GIH should instead be drawn from Paysend Processing.” (Answer and Am. Countercl., ¶151)
  - “In November 2016, Counterclaim Plaintiffs Sarmad Harake and Eurosa, Inc. entered into loan agreements with International Holding AG for the principal amount of One Million Three Hundred Ninety Thousand (\$1,390,000), which was in turn invested to acquire a 100% interest in Paysend UK.” (Answer and Am. Countercl., ¶154)
  - Harake alleged in the claim at issue that he was forced to divest his shares in Paysend UK and one of the paragraphs outside the body of the subject claim recites that he sold “his 1.16% interest in Paysend UK to that other investor in November 2018 for Two million Eighty-Five Thousand One Hundred Sixty-Seven and NO/100 dollars (\$2,085,167).” (Answer and Am. Countercl., ¶159)

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